Licensing Sub-Committee

Minutes of a Meeting of the Licensing Sub-Committee held in the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Tannery Lane, Ashford on the **5th October 2010.**

Present:

Cllr. Feacey (Chairman);

Cllrs. Mrs Blanford, Norris.

Also Present:

Cllr. Holland

Licensing Manager, Legal Advisor, Environmental Control Officer, Member Services & Scrutiny Support Officer.

199 Election of Chairman

Resolved:

That Councillor Feacey be elected as Chairman for this meeting of the Licensing Sub-Committee.

200 Minutes

Resolved:

That the Minutes of the Meeting of this Sub-Committee held on the 5th July 2010 be approved and confirmed as a correct record.

201 Five Bells, The Street, Brabourne, Ashford, Kent, TN25 5LP – Application from an existing licence holder to vary the premises licence.

The Chairman opened the meeting and welcomed all those present. Members confirmed that they had read the papers relating to the application. The Chairman explained the procedure to be followed at the meeting.

The Licensing Manager then gave a brief summary of his report. The application had been made by an existing licence holder to vary a premises licence. The application to vary the Premises Licence was contained in Appendix A of the agenda papers, along with a site plan, showing the proposed area for licensable activities. The application had been made in the proper manner. Representations had been received hence the determination coming before Members.

The premises was a traditional-style public house situated on The Street in East Brabourne. An application to transfer the premises licence was made in April 2010, along with an application to vary the designated premises supervisor. Both were granted. Since the applicant took over the premises, substantial refurbishment work to the premises had been undertaken. The premises was located in a small hamlet approximately two miles from Brabourne Lees. There were residential properties in close proximity and the premises itself was at the end of an adjoining terrace of properties. The premises currently had a premises licence permitting the sale of alcohol both on and off the premises Monday to Saturday 10:00 - 23:00 and Sunday 12:00 – 22:30 with seasonal variations for Good Friday and Christmas Day. A copy of the current premises licence was contained in Appendix G of the agenda papers. The variation application proposed to extend the hours for all licensable activities to 08:00 to 00:00 Sunday to Wednesday and 08:00 - 01:00 Thursday to Saturday. It proposed to increase the licensable area to include the whole outside area of the premises for all licensable activities (except for indoor sporting events). The application proposed to add plays, films, indoor sporting events, live and recorded music, performance of dance, facilities for making music and dancing. Late night refreshment had also been applied for with the hours Sunday to Wednesday 23:00 -00:00, Thursday to Saturday 23:00 – 01:00. The proposed new opening hours were Sunday to Wednesday 08:00 - 00:30 and Thursday to Saturday 08:00 - 01:30.

Additional material had been submitted from the applicant and two of the interested parties had sent additional letters which had been distributed to all interested parties prior to the meeting. The applicant had suggested amendments to the application in his correspondence, however Members should consider the application in its current form unless advised by the applicant that he wished to amend the application.

Records showed that one Temporary Event Notice had been used at the premises in August 2009, by the previous licence holders. There had been no noise complaints received by the Council since the current licence holders had been responsible for the premises. The Council did receive one noise complaint regarding amplified music in December 2005, but this was before the applicants held the premises licence.

The Licensing Manager advised that two additional letters from interested parties had been received within time to report to the Licensing Sub-Committee. These were distributed to all those in attendance at the meeting and a five minute break was given to enable all attendees to read through the additional letters.

Under Section 35(5) of the Licensing Act 2003, representations were relevant if they were about the likely effect of the grant of the licence on the promotion of the licensing objectives and (subsection 6) were made by an interested party or responsible authority within the prescribed period, were not withdrawn or, in the opinion of the licensing authority, frivolous or vexatious. The representation from the Environmental Health Officer was provided at Appendix C of the agenda papers. The Officer had met with the applicant at the premises to discuss the application. Following the meeting the Officer wrote to the applicant expressing her concerns that music played inside should be controlled and the permitted hours reduced. In addition the Officer had concerns that any music played outside the premises would cause a nuisance. A copy of her letter was provided in Appendix D of the agenda papers.

Eighteen interested parties had made representations. A summary of these representations was provided in Appendix E of the agenda papers and copies of the letters were contained in Appendix F of the agenda papers. All of the representations

were from parties living in the area. The representations had a number of common themes in terms of the licensing objectives and they could be summarised as follows:

- The prevention of public nuisance was raised with reference to the applicants request to add live and recorded music both inside and outside the premises and the effect the potential noise nuisance may cause.
- The prevention of public nuisance in reference to the request for extended hours with customers leaving the premises later and the potential noise nuisance this may cause.
- The prevention of crime and disorder objective was raised with reference to the behaviour of an increased number of customers leaving the premises later at night.
- The semi rural nature of the area.
- The potential of customer parking on the surrounding roads and the potential for increased traffic which may cause a nuisance to those interested parties who have made representations. Members may wish to consider whether the applicant was responsible for these issues under the Licensing Act 2003.

Members could grant the licence with no modifications to the conditions proposed in the operating schedule, modify the conditions of the licence or reject the whole or part of the application. The Licensing Manager advised the Licensing Sub-Committee that they may wish to request clarification regarding the licence which the applicant was applying for.

Mr Rogers, the applicant, spoke in support of the application. He advised the Sub-Committee that he had made the original application and had responded to the representations that had been made in his subsequent letter which had detailed amendments to the application. Along with his wife he had purchased the Five Bells in April 2010 and whilst he had trained and worked in architectural practice for many years, he was aware of the commercial realities that went hand in hand with owning a public house. The Five Bells had a loyal following and had been treated as a restaurant rather than a public house and had been known to close at 21:30. They now had a broader customer base and had made many improvements to the business, including refurbishment of the kitchen, toilet facilities and front of house and the introduction of a shop and meeting facilities. They wished to introduce alternative forms of trade to enhance the business, such as live music, especially for quieter periods during the week. He assured all those present that they would not consider the use of AWP machines or karaoke. The business would continue to be food dominated.

Managed garden functions would be essential and it was thought that wedding parties, birthday parties and christening celebrations would not be inappropriate to the location as they were part of village life. It was hoped that should the business be successful then people would visit from further afield. He had been aware that the application would be controversial and he had hoped that this debate would be the appropriate place for all to air their concerns. He advised that he was seeking the support of Ashford Borough Council and hoped that the licence would be granted with sensible conditions. He would demonstrate that he would act as a responsible landlord and advised that he had chosen to vary the licence rather than apply for Temporary Event Notices as he felt that the latter option would have created tension. He was willing to compromise and had indicated this in his letter that had been distributed to all parties. Upon making the application he had spoken to local residents, placed the statutory notice in the window of the premises along with a letter inviting residents to speak him regarding the application so that he could clarify his intentions. He had not lobbied locally for support for the application however he had received a letter from a local resident who lived half way down The Street in Brabourne, the points of which could be summarised as follows:

- The changes made to the public house had led to an increase in business.
- The Five Bells worked in co-operation with the Church St. Mary's in Brabourne and was to host the Church's Harvest Supper.
- It was important at the current time for any business to be 'on the ball'. When the church held a wedding, funeral or confirmation many people preferred a venue close by. It was important for the proprietors to immediately respond to a request rather than wait for the permission of the Local Authority.
- The work that had been carried out to the premises had shown that the Landlords had the community's best interests at heart.
- Noise was not new to Brabourne. Church bells rang at least once a week and there were local celebrations where marquees were erected and music and light affected the area for several hours.

Mr Rogers further advised that the Five Bells was a family run business. If they were unable to develop patronage then they would have to work harder at the weekend. They wanted to increase business by word of mouth and recommendation rather than advertising. He concluded by advising the Sub-Committee that he wanted the Five Bells to make a contribution to the local community and that the revised application that he wished to be considered was that contained within his most recent letter.

The Licensing Manager advised of the process for applying for Temporary Event Notices, the maximum number that could be applied for in a year and that the Police were the only body that could object on the grounds of crime and disorder. He further advised the Sub-Committee that should they decide to grant the application in any form then they may wish to consider the removal of the embedded conditions that had been bought over from the 1960s legislation, 99% of licences had had these removed.

In response to questions from Members, Mr Rogers advised that they had carried out works and had tried to insulate the party wall; however that area tended to be used for dining. When they had redesigned the building they had done so with the intention of music being played at the other end of the bar. The capacity of the car park met the Kent County Council parking standard and the area was now lit and regularly maintained. The shop sold fresh local produce and the meeting area was often used early in the morning after the school run.

The Licensing Manager outlined the revised application for the Sub-Committee.

Sale and Off-Sale of Alcohol:

Monday	08:00 – 23:00 for those at the bar/00:00 (when eating table meals)	
Tuesday	08:00 - 23:00/00:00	
Wednesday	08:00 - 23:00/00:00	
Thursday	08-00 - 23:00/00:00	
Friday	08-00 - 23:00/00:00	
Saturday	08-00 - 23:00/00:00	
Sunday	08:00 - 23:00/00:00	
Non-standard times: Christmas Eve and New Year's Eve until 00:30.		

Live and Recorded Music

Monday	18:30 – 23:00	One of these days a
Tuesday	18:30 – 23:00	week
Wednesday	18:30 – 23:00	
Thursday	None	
Friday	None	
Saturday	None	
Sunday	15:00 – 22:00	
Non-standard times: Christmas Eve and New Year's Eve 18:30 until 00:30.		

Late Night Refreshment

Monday	23:00 - 00:00
Tuesday	23:00 - 00:00
Wednesday	23:00 - 00:00
Thursday	23:00 - 00:00
Friday	23:00 - 00:00
Saturday	23:00 - 00:00

 Sunday
 23:00 - 00:00

Non-standard times: Christmas Eve and New Year's Eve until 00:30.

Outside Events with Live and Recorded Music

Four per year 12:00 until 22:00

Mr Francis, an interested party, spoke in objection to the application. He advised the Sub-Committee that the application was contested on the grounds of public nuisance and safety. The applicant wished to stage events at the Five Bells, the residents of the village did not want this to happen. East Brabourne was a designated conservation area located in a tranquil setting. The owners of the public house should be required to observe the conservation area and realise that the imposition of noise nuisance in the area was unacceptable, a matter which the volume of objections to the application attested to. He felt that the additional letter received from the applicant had been an attempt to sway villagers, he however would never accept noise nuisance emanating from either the establishment or its garden. He questioned why the residents of the village should 'pay a price' to further the commercial success of the business. Patrons of the public house regularly parked on the street which created a source of nuisance to those residents who could not access their dwellings, whilst the applicant stated that he could not control where individuals parked. He further advised the Sub-Committee that his objection to the application bore no malice towards the Five Bells or the owners, in fact he had dined at the establishment on a number occasions since Mr & Mrs Rogers had taken over. He wanted the business to succeed but not at the cost of the tranquillity of the area. He asked the Sub-Committee to reject the application in its totality.

In response to a question from a Member, Mr Francis advised that he had lived in the adjoining property since 2005 and had occasionally been able to hear talking through the wall. When an event which had involved a piano had been held at the premises, which had been located away from the party wall, he had been able to hear the piano over his television set and in an alternative room with the doors closed. He also advised that he could sometimes hear ambient music in his dwelling. He felt that that it was impossible that any music being played in the premises would not be audible in his dwelling.

Ms Cantacuzino, an interested party, spoke in objection to the application. She had been impressed with the improvements to the premises. She advised the Sub-Committee that she was representing three other households who were close neighbours to the Five Bells. The amendments that had been suggested to the application were still unacceptable. The Environmental Health Officer had objected to the application and it was clear that she could see the unsuitability of the requested licence in the location. In the 1990's music evenings had been held at the public house two nights a week, the residents of the village had long memories and some had left the village due to the disruption that this had caused. She felt that whilst the landlord was sensitive to the concerns of the residents he was also being naïve as there was no doubt in anyone's mind that live and recorded music would cause a disturbance to the residents of the village. It was an essential human right

for an individual to enjoy his/her property. If the application was granted then the licence would remain with the Five Bells and should the premises change owners then the new owners could be less scrupulous. She concluded by quoting from Eleanor Roosevelt on the Universal Declaration of Human Rights "Where, after all, do universal human rights begin? In small places, close to home - so close and so small that they cannot be seen on any maps of the world. Yet they are the world of the individual person; the neighbourhood he lives in; the school or college he attends; the factory, farm, or office where he works. Such are the places where every man, woman, and child seeks equal justice, equal opportunity, equal dignity without discrimination. Unless these rights have meaning there, they have little meaning anywhere."

Mrs Francis, an interested party, added that she had been able to hear the fan in the Five Bells after the sound proofing work had been carried and had drawn this to Mr Rogers attention, she felt that this was an indication of how intrusive live or recorded music would be.

Mr Martin, an interested party, advised that his objection was to the hours proposed by the licence. He wished for it to be recorded that the system had not served the residents of Brabourne or the applicant well in fact it had resulted in an adversary position being created which was a great concern to him. He felt that the advice that had been given to the applicant to apply for all the hours that he may require was disturbing. He further advised that he felt that the public consultation was held at the wrong end of the process.

The Licensing Manager advised that when a licence holder wanted to vary a licence they were advised to apply for the hours that they may wish to use in the future, ultimately it was up to the applicant to decide what was suitable. He understood Mr Martins concerns and would modify the language that was used when advising applicants in the future. He further advised that the application process was laid out in statute and did not operate in the same way as planning where near neighbours were written to. In the case of licensing applications the applicant had to advertise the application at the premises and in the local paper, although alternative additional measures were suggested.

The Environmental Control Officer advised the Sub-Committee that the sound insulation referred to by the applicant was in fact a form of boarding which was not classified as sound insulation. In respect of a music event being held in the garden of the premises she advised that a marquee would not contain noise and so all of the neighbours could be affected by such an event. Environmental Control assessed the potential noise nuisance under specific guidance which was separate to that used by the Licensing Team. A statutory nuisance was deemed to be an activity which unreasonably impacted on the use or enjoyment of neighbouring occupiers premises (and would need to be frequent and unreasonable). If events were permitted at the premises then this could create a statutory nuisance. A statutory nuisance was difficult to prove and involved many hours of visits to the premises and neighbouring properties. She had suggested that all external doors and windows be closed when music was being played and no music should be audible outside of the premises, however the latter part of this would be difficult to achieve. If music were to be permitted at the premises then she requested that no amplification be used, no

drums to be used and a restriction placed on the number of people making music. If the applicant decided to apply for a Temporary Event Notice for an event with music then the Environment Control Team could be called on to investigate if a noise complaint was made. If the Sub-Committee were to permit events outside the premises then she requested that these did not occur on consecutive weekends.

In response to a question from a Member, the Environmental Control Officer advised that there were various forms of sound proofing that could be used at the premises however it would require considerable construction to the party wall from the Five Bells side and the cost and upheaval would not be reflected in the end result. It would be difficult to sound proof the party wall due to the design and construction of the building and its party wall with an immediate neighbour.

Mr Rogers concluded by thanking the Sub-Committee for considering the application.

The Licensing Manager then summed up the nature of the application and the issues for the Sub-Committee to consider. He reminded the Sub-Committee that they may grant the licence with no modifications, modify the conditions of the licence or reject whole or part of the application.

The Sub-Committee then retired to make their decision.

On return the Legal Advisor read out the decision.

Resolved:

That the premises licence be granted and the sale of alcohol be permitted from:

Monday to Thursday:	08:00 to 23:00
Friday to Sunday:	08:00 to 23:30

Hours for serving alcohol at tables until 30 minutes after the permitted hours for the sale of alcohol.

Non-standard times: Christmas Eve and New Year's Eve until 00:30.

Opening hours until 30 minutes after the end of the permitted hours for the sale of alcohol.

Live and Recorded Music:

Monday to Wednesday: 18:30 to 23:00

To be held on one of the permitted days per week only.

Non-standard times: Christmas Eve and New Year's Eve 18:30 until 00:30.

Late Night Refreshment:

Monday to Sunday: 23:00 to 00:00

Non-standard times: Christmas Eve and New Year's Eve until 00:30.

Outside Events:

No more than two per year 12:00 to 22:00

Subject to the conditions consistent with the operating schedule set out in Appendix B of the Licensing Manager's report, and the following additional conditions:-

- (i) All external doors and windows must be kept closed, other than for access and egress, when music is played (recorded or live).
- (ii) Performances of music or speech will only be permitted in the garden area on two occasions in a calendar year. Any such performances will cease at 22:00 and not to be held on consecutive weekends.
- (iii) Music not to be amplified or to include the playing of drums & not to consist of more than two performers at any one time.
- (iv) Prominent, clear notices shall be displayed at all exits and in the garden/outside areas, requesting customers to respect the needs of local residents and leave the premises and the area quietly.
- (v) The Licence Holder or a nominated representative will receive and respond to complaints.
- (vi) The Licence Holder will ensure that all events to be held in the garden of the premises will be notified to dwellings in a half mile radius surrounding the premises a minimum of 14 days before the event.

Embedded conditions to be removed

The reasons for the imposition of the conditions and for the new terms of the licence is to ensure that the licence complies with the statutory licensing objectives

The Licensing Manager be given delegated authority to amend the wording of the conditions as appropriate.

The Legal Advisor informed those present of their right of appeal to the Magistrates' Court and the Right to Review a Premises Licence. She advised the Applicant that the Sub-Committee had concerns regarding the parking provision and that whilst this was not something that could be controlled by conditions on the licence nevertheless Members wanted the licence holder to try and make sure that the car parking area with the premises was laid out so that maximum use could be made of it by customers.

Queries concerning these minutes? Please contact Kirsty Liddell: Telephone: 01233 330499 Email: kirsty.liddell@ashford.gov.uk Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: www.ashford.gov.uk/committees